# SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD

# Minutes of the meeting of the Scrutiny Management Board held on Friday, 15<sup>th</sup> March 2013 at 10.30am in Meeting Room 3, Darby House, Telford

**PRESENT:** Councillors D. White (Chair), V. Fletcher, M. Ion, A. McClements, S. Reynolds, C. Turley.

**IN ATTENDENCE:** Cllrs. P. Watling, C. Elliott, R. Picken; J. Bedesha, Cohesion Service Delivery Manager; F. Bottrill, Scrutiny Group Specialist; S. Jones, Scrutiny Officer. Cllr. E. Carter was also in attendance and was invited to take part in the meeting.

# SMB-29 MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING

<u>RESOLVED</u> – that the minutes of the meetings of the Scrutiny Management Board held on the 18<sup>th</sup> January 2013 be confirmed and signed by the Chairman.

# SMB-30 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Cllr. C. Mollett

# SMB-31 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None

#### SMB-32 HOLDING THE EXECUTIVE TO ACCOUNT

The Chair welcomed Cllr. Watling, Cabinet Member Children, Young People & Families to the meeting for the Holding the Executive to account session. The Cabinet member had been sent a list of standard questions in advance of the meeting.

The Chair asked Cllr. Watling what he felt were the biggest challenges for the service and Cllr. Watling highlighted the following points:

• The biggest challenge was the budget, as scrutiny was familiar with. The challenge was to protect vulnerable children when money was scarce and the restructure was key to this. The structure had been co-constructed with the teams and the leadership of Laura Johnston the Director for Children and Family services had been key. There were monthly Cabinet-led financial monitoring meetings with the Managing Director, Director and Assistant Directors. Scrutiny Chairs had been invited and three scrutiny

members had attended the last meeting which had been helpful to showing the way forward.

- Cllr. Watling said that children in care had in the past been used as a
  political football and he would not expect political groups to use children in
  care in this way in public session when all members are responsible as
  Corporate Parents. He had had conversations with shadow Cabinet
  members and opposition groups about this and the cross-party Corporate
  Parenting Group was starting to change the culture he felt this was
  working and would continue to take the politics out of this area.
- The Building Schools for the Future programme was a big challenge and changes had been made to the original programme after listening to the public. He acknowledged that building would always create some issues for example with traffic.
- Cllr. Watling saw his role as being the voice of children and young people in the Cabinet and he felt he did this. He listens to what children and young people are saying and gave some examples of interactions with young people to hear their views and respond to them and to communicate to young people the role of the Council and Councillors to inspire them to get involved.

The Chair asked about the increasing number of children coming into care, whether there was pressure to over-react after the Climbier case and what steps were in place to make sure the right support is provided at the right time. Cllr. Watling said it was clear there are many issues for the team. The Resource Allocation Management Panel (RAMP) had been set up as a cross-team panel to ensure families of children with complex needs or on the edge of care receive the right support to avoid admission and to ensure children in care return home safely as quickly as possible. This is a decision making panel and should see numbers drop although they needed to be careful that numbers do not drop too far and this had been made clear to the Director. Cllr. Watling had stood for election because he had been concerned the Council had put children and young people on the back burner without a Director of Children's Services and he was pleased this had changed. He believed the Council needed a corporate voice for children and young people and strategic direction and the Director looked at the whole corporate body and not just the children and young people services. He said that prevention was better than cure as which was the thrust of the Munro report and the aim was to keep children in safe families in safe communities. There was a pilot in Donnington where community champions had been recruited to look at the reasons why families do not engage with support organisations. This was being pushed forward with funding from the Children's Improvement Board of the Local Government Association (LGA). Services could not be imposed on people, they must evolve and be long standing. The government had made cuts to the Early Intervention grant but the Council had protected preventative services by providing money from universal services. There was a national focus on targeted support rather than universal services with the aim of preventing the need to take children into care. Cllr. Watling said that he argued the case with Cabinet colleagues and also challenges them on how cuts in other service

areas would affect children and young people.

Cllr. McClements agreed that prevention was better than cure but was concerned about the potential impact of the welfare benefit reforms on children and young people in families affected and wanted to know how Cllr. Watling linked into family prevention work. Cllr. Fletcher asked what links there were with schools to support children with special educational needs and Cllr. White asked how early intervention is mapped out with schools for example to identify children with aspergers or autism. Cllr. Watling replied that the effect of the welfare benefit reforms was not yet known but the service was set up to deal with issues. The prevention service supported children and young people from birth to age 19. Family Connect had been set up as an access or referral hub with a multi-agency triage team linked to multi-agency services, including the Police and Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS). He had initially needed to be convinced about the model but had been persuaded by a similar model which he had seen working in York. The multi-agency approach puts children and young people at the centre of work. He was keeping an eye on the model – there had been initial issues with the IT – but it was now moving ahead. Information sharing had been improved which enabled better decisions to be taken but it was early days and there may be hiccups. The Munro report in response to the Baby Peter case had highlighted the fact that agencies were not linked up or sharing information and the child had got lost in the middle - Family Connect would address this fundamental issue. The Children & Families Board had been reinstated and the members of the UK Youth Parliament attend meetings to represent young people. He felt that nationally there had been a loss of strategic focus on Every Child Matters in the thrust towards educational reform. Schools were important but it was more difficult to manage relationships with schools with the drive towards academies and free schools away from the local education authority and a Multi-Academy Trust had been set up to work with academies with a co-operative approach to traded services.

Cllr. Ion commented that a lot of work had clearly been done and the Children & Young People Scrutiny Committee was about to report on its review of the Children in Placement Strategy, but he wanted to know more about what was being done to meet the challenge of future demand for primary school places. Cllr. Watling agreed this was a challenge particularly how to fund capital build in future and this was being discussed with planners. There was a good team in place. They had looked at the figures which had also been considered by the Scrutiny Management Board at the Call-in meeting about the planning of secondary school provision. At primary level there was an issue with the lack of places. There was not the same crisis in Telford & Wrekin as there was in London but there was still a need to deal with the projected growth in demand.

A member commented that that the Climbier and Baby Peter cases could have made authorities more risk averse and resulted in more children being taken into care. He agreed with other members that links needed to be developed with schools so that issues could be identified and addressed early on and said that questions had been asked at Plans Board about how school places were linked to housing development. Cllr. Watling agreed this needed to be done but it could not be done alone and he felt that government policy needed to

reflect this and he would welcome the opportunity of working with opposition group members on lobbying nationally for investment.

Cllr. Fletcher raised an issue about the need for agencies to protect children and young people outside school premises for example from grooming or drugs and asked how this was being addressed. Cllr. Watling said he felt the national changes in education made the multi-agency approach much more difficult to implement with schools but there were some good examples of joint working in Telford and Wrekin and the Council was working hard to hold this together. There was a generally a good relationship between head teachers and services. Cllr. Fletcher asked whether the kind of problems she had highlighted were a community or a parental issue. Cllr. Watling said the Co-operative Youth Offer provided a clear strategy and model for developing youth services. The services had been affected by funding cuts but officers had worked to look at how resources could be used most effectively and there were three strands of work:

- Targeted support this was aimed at young people with the highest need and community workers provide targeted support to families. A big issue was to help relative carers look after teens who could not go into foster care.
- Universal services
- Voluntary sector more money had been put into grants for voluntary sector partners and different models of working had been looked at. Cabinet members had discussed other ways to support voluntary organisations such as reduced rent.

Altogether partnership working was coming back. There was a good Local Safeguarding Children Board which was independently chaired. Ofsted commented on its effectiveness but was concerned it was early on in its journey.

Cllr. Fletcher said that young people should also be educated so they know how to safeguard themselves. Cllr. Watling said that a group of children from Homer Lake school had done some work on bullying which had been presented at the Council and had received national recognition and was being shared across schools and academies. Telford & Wrekin wanted to work with all schools and academies but it was harder when education was becoming fragmented. There was a different relationship with schools not maintained by the Local Education Authority and a partnership approach had been taken but there was a dilemma for authorities who were still responsible for paying fro some schools.

Cllr. McClements questioned the policy on CRB checks which had been required for volunteers to work on a bulb-planting project with a school in her ward. Cllr. Watling agreed that the checks needed to be done as quickly as possible but he had no concerns about requiring the checks. Those who want to abuse children can be clever and it was necessary to take all possible precautions including CRB checks. The Chair argued that CRB checks incurred an expense to the Council and that they did not necessarily show up potential abusers but Cllr. Watling said he totally disagreed and that he would not relax the model. Cllr. Ion agreed with Cllr. Watling and said that this was about managing risk but he also felt there should be an element of cost-benefit analysis – for example he had 9 separate CRB checks for different roles. Cllr.

Watling said this was a central government issue. The previous government had said that CRB checks should be transferrable but the problem was that agencies would not take the risk of accepting this. He also made the point that it was not just about doing Police checks but also about how we work with volunteers after that and the CRB wasn't a "green light".

Cllr. Ion asked about progress on the BSF programme and Cllr. Watling said he had a weekly briefing with the Director of Children's Services so that any potential slippage would be flagged up. BRJ was still on-track to open in 2015, Phoenix in September 2013 and Ercall Wood in 2014 with the others to follow. The framework for the contractor had compressed the work. Cllr. Ion asked about the risks around BSF, for example the timetable and the risks around capital receipts as the programme was predicated on achieving the sale of land at projected values. Cllr. Watling said the risks were low otherwise the government would not have approved the programme and there was a good relationship with Shepherds. Cllr. Ion asked whether the biggest capital receipt was in Charlton and Cllr. Watling said it was and this was part of a big reshaping of Wellington. Cllr. lon pressed the question of whether the Cabinet member had concerns about the timetable and Cllr. Watling said he did not and that if there were any issues they would be flagged up at the weekly meetings. He said that BSF was one of the biggest challenges and believed that the programme delivered sustainable schools until 2018 which was the date set by DfE's for allowable building for projected need but it may be necessary to build on after that.

The Chair asked about the approach to saving money, generating income, traded services and shared services. Cllr. Watling said that the first question he asks about changes to services is how it would affect the children and that costs were not the starting point. Some brilliant services had had to be cut and these were hard decisions but the cuts had been made in a way that would have the least impact. With regard to shared services, the Joint Adoption Service with Shropshire was being reviewed but he assured members that there would be no negative impacts from any changes. With regard to traded services, the Co-operative offer was continuing to be developed. It was essential to be clear about what services the Council would provide because there was no point providing services that the schools would not buy and there was a need to find the right partners. Work was being done with the Secondary Heads and Principals group and the Schools Forum. It was difficult to say how the future would pan out. The commissioning process was being looked at to make this clear and transparent for local people to be involved, for example local people were involved in the Strengthening Families pilot in Donnington mentioned earlier. Work continued to identify external grant funding and to look at partnerships and opportunities for alternative ways of working such as mutuals. A review of children's centre services was underway looking at how to sustain the services not to close them. They were investing in services provided at the right time to build a sustainability culture and not a dependency culture in families.

The Chair asked about the cost and service for children with statements and said he had heard that Teaching Assistants were working with statemented children rather than qualified teachers so the benefit of the additional support

was lost. Cllr. Watling said that the Children & Families Bill making its way through Parliament included a different approach to children with special educational needs and would replace the special educational needs assessment with a health and wellbeing assessment so the right kind of support could be put in place. All services were under critical financial pressure and Cllr. Watling said it was clear that the Council should be at the centre of developing services. The Children & Families Board had been reinstated and this fitted into the Health & Wellbeing Board agendas so the voice of children and young people was heard.

Cllr. Fletcher asked how the Council was ensuring that the Pupil Premium was used for the intended purpose and Cllr. Watling said that he wished he could but that this was a matter for the schools and their governing bodies. Cllr. Fletcher then asked how school governors were being trained to do this. Cllr. Watling again said that this was legally the responsibility of the school governors and the head of Ofsted had recently been critical of governing bodies - it was important to have the right people on the governing bodies and he felt that in Telford & Wrekin there were some very good ones. He would welcome ideas from members on how to work on this in a fractured context. He said the Council has a well experienced School Improvement team and that the educational improvement curve in the borough had been huge. Cllr. Fletcher suggested that this could be featured in the Leader's newsletter and Cllr. Watling said this was a good idea.

Cllr. Turley asked whether the joint Adoption Service would remain with the Council or become part of Shropshire's outsourced company. Cllr. Watling said they would look at what was best for the children and young people. They were not looking at commissioning out at the moment but perhaps if partners could show this would work it could be looked at. A report would be brought to Cabinet in due course and this would be a decision for the whole Cabinet and not just him.

When there were no further questions the Chair thanked Cllr. Watling for attending and answering question. Cllr. Watling then left the meeting.

Before moving onto the next item Cllr. McClements congratulated Cllr. White on his appointment as Chair of the West Midlands Scrutiny Network. Cllr. White had been appointed for 12 months and Telford & Wrekin would host the next meeting of the network in July.

# SMB-33 MANAGING CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AS PART OF THE SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME

The Scrutiny Officer tabled a report identifying issues in the scrutiny work programmes which cut across more than one Scrutiny Committee. The report set out a proposed way of dealing with the issues which the Board was asked to consider. The main areas of overlap were with the welfare benefit reforms, the Cost Improvement Plan in children and young people, housing issues and First Point for Business which may duplicate Cabinet and officer time in attending scrutiny meetings. There was a discussion about this and the proposed

methods of dealing with the issues was agreed.

#### **RESOLVED:**

That the proposed ways of working set out in the report be agreed, namely:

Reports to the Budget and Finance Scrutiny Committee from:

The Cabinet Member for Resources and Service Delivery report to the on the work of the Safeguarding Financial Monitoring Group Director of Children and Family Services reports on the Early Help and Safeguarding Cost Improvement Plan

During the budget consultation period this Committee can request any Cabinet Member or member of the Senior management team to attend.

Reports to the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee from:

Assistant Directors and Cllr. Paul Watling on the Children in Care Performance Dashboard as a standing item (the Director of Children and Family Services to attend when appropriate.)

Assistant Directors and Cllr. Paul Watling on Impact of Early Intervention/ Family Connect (the Director of Children and Family Services to attend when appropriate.)

The Co-operative and Community Scrutiny Committee to lead on scrutiny of welfare reforms

The Housing Economy and Infrastructure Scrutiny Committee to lead on scrutiny of housing

# SMB-34 <u>UPDATE ON POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER AND POLICE & CRIME PANELS</u>

The item began with a short update from the Cohesion Manager. The last update to scrutiny had been in May 2012. Bill Longmore had been elected as the West Mercia Police & Crime Commissioner (PCC) in November. The West Mercia Police & Crime Plan had been developed and the Council had been consulted on the Plan. The Draft Plan and the Council's response to the Plan had been circulated as Appendix B1 and B2. A needs analysis of the Safer Communities Partnerships across West Mercia had been carried out prior to the election and as a result of this work, the priorities of the Telford & Wrekin Safer, Stronger Communities Partnership had been taken into account in the Draft Plan and this had been welcomed by the Council. Additionally, the PCC had agreed that the community safety grant previously allocated to the Council but which had passed to the PCC under the new arrangements would be allocated back to the Council which was welcome news. The Draft Plan proposed cuts to the police presence across West Mercia, but Telford & Wrekin had faired reasonably well with only one proposed closure which was the station in Newport. Options around Newport were being looked at and the

Council wanted to work with the PCC on a new location and were waiting for a reply to an invitation to the PCC to meet to discuss this. Overall the Draft Plan was considered favourable for Telford & Wrekin and this was attributed to the work that had gone into the preparation. The Plan highlighted the need for Community Safety Partnerships to be on board. The Plan was due to be confirmed at the end of March and would then be developed in more detail locally.

The Chair introduced Cllrs. Elliott and Picken who had been invited to the meeting as the Telford & Wrekin elected member representatives on the Police & Crime Panel (PCP) which was responsible for scrutinising the PCC and the Police & Crime Plan and holding the PCC to account. The Chair asked for their views on how they felt the PCP was working so far.

Cllr. Picken said he had only been to one meeting so far because he had only recently been appointed to the Panel and needed to develop his knowledge, but from what he had seen the PCC seemed to be listening to the Panel and the Chief Constable had also attended the meeting. Cllr. Elliott said he felt the PCP was a talking shop and that in reality the PCC did not need to listen to the Panel only to show that he had listened so there was no real accountability. He felt Telford & Wrekin had faired reasonably well in the Draft Plan because of the good work the Cohesion Manager had done before the election which had paved the way for the PCC's decisions but he felt that other authorities may see the PCP as a talking shop. This may change over time and there could be a role for the PCP if the PCC allowed the Panel to have more of a say but he doubted this would happen and did not think it would be useful.

The Chair asked about the make up of elected members on the PCP and whether places were proportional to the population. Home Office rules dictated that county, unitary and district authorities must all be represented on the PCP then the places had been allocated proportionate to population.

The Chair asked if the other members of the PCP became more effective whether this could potentially have a negative impact on Telford & Wrekin and the Cohesion Manager said this was possible.

There was a lengthy discussion about the proposed closure of Newport police station.

- Cllr. Carter had attended the meeting and was invited by the Chair to take
  part in the discussion. He congratulated the Cohesion Manager on his
  work and said he felt it was important for Telford & Wrekin to have a strong
  presence on the PCP because with these kinds of partnerships those with
  the loudest voice tended to do best. He felt that there was an opportunity to
  co-locate the police presence in Newport with the fire station. The fire
  station was efficiently run and in a good location and he had attended this
  meeting to put the case forward.
- The Chair thanked the Cohesion Manager for his good work but said that it was important to continue to press the case for a police presence in Newport.

- The Cohesion Manager thought it would depend on the nature of the service needed and the space required, for example whether it was necessary to have fully functioning police station or whether a front desk presence for members of the public would be sufficient and a discussion with the Bill Longmore was needed. Cllr. Carter said he would welcome the opportunity to look at the fire station with the Cohesion Manger and the Managing Director with a view to making a case for co-location at a round table meeting due to be held on the issue which Cllr. Hilda Rhodes as Cabinet member responsible for Community Protection was due to attend.
- Cllr. Elliott said that from his experience on the old Police Authority he had been in favour of the rationalisation of police stations. The cost per visit to a police station was astronomical and he thought that personal interaction with the police could be done in different ways, for example in libraries, as a better and more cost effective option. The issue was that the front desks were not being used and were expensive to run and the money would be better spent on front-line services. Not many people actually go to a police station nowadays. He did not have exact figures to hand, but a recent survey of usage of Wellington police station showed that only about 16 people had gone into the station in one week.
- The Chair said that Newport had a sizeable catchment area and felt a police presence was necessary and felt that support should be given to save it.
   Cllr. Picken thought it would be a good idea to bring all the emergency services together in one location as a base for vehicles and the Chair said that the West Midlands Ambulance Service had set up Make Ready hubs for their vehicles.
- Cllr. Ion agreed with Cllr. Elliott's point about costs but said there were a lot
  of politics and symbolism around this issue. He suggested that the type
  and volume of usage and the costs should be monitored over a period of
  time before making a decision. If it was found that very few people used
  the station, local people would need to be prepared before a change of
  service was made.
- Cllr. Cater said again that he felt a police presence in Newport was important.
- Cllr. Elliott said that the reality was that there was no money. The Wellington study showed the cost per visit to be around £50.
- Cllr. Ion said that there were 2 issues to consider: the deployment of police in Newport and the symbolic presence of the police to which he was sympathetic, but not at any cost.
- Cllr. Reynolds said that many stations were not fit for purpose now and they
  were just offices and did not really support the needs of the town. Only the
  main station at Malinslee had cells.
- Cllr. Carter repeated his support for a combined fire / ambulance / police

station on one site. Cllr. Ion said he may be in favour but on a "use it or lose it" basis.

Cllr. Fletcher asked whether the use of the non-emergency 101 number had been looked at. The Cohesion Manager said the 101 service was a national Home Office initiative and not within the remit of the PCC. He would need to check the powers of referral from the PCP to the Secretary of State.

Cllr. Ion referred to page 4 of the Council's response to the Police & Crime Plan and asked who decided the deployment of the 5 Council funded Community Support Officers (CSOs). The Cohesion Manager said that the Council decides on deployment. Anti-Social Behaviour is monitored to identify hot spots so resources can be targeted and the CSOs are deployed to respond where needed. Parking and traffic can also be a problem and the CSOs can be deployed to enforce, ticket or try to make children safe on busy roads. He said Members could raise any specific issues with him to investigate.

Cllr. Fletcher asked how taxi marshalling would be funded. The Manager said it would be funded though a partnership bid and some funds had been found to put the scheme in place.

Cllr. Fletcher asked what would happen to the PCT funding for drug misuse from the end of March when the PCT is abolished and the Manager said the Health & Wellbeing Board would develop the Health & Wellbeing Strategy which would determine the commissioning strategy.

Cllr. Fletcher asked about the white ribbon campaign to raise awareness about domestic violence issues and how it was being achieved. The Manager said the administration was committed to promoting awareness of the issue. There was an awareness raising campaign and he would send details to Cllr. Fletcher. He confirmed that the Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARAC) were still happening. The Scrutiny Group Specialist reminded members that Domestic Violence would be coming to the May meeting for more detailed consideration.

Cllr. Fletcher asked whether the cost of the PCP came from the Council's budget and it was confirmed that the costs came from the PCC budget.

The Scrutiny Group Specialist drew members' attention to the Draft Protocol between West Mercia Police & Crime Panel and Crime & Disorder Overview and Scrutiny circulated as Appendix B3. PCPs were responsible for scrutiny of PCCs, and Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committees (in Telford & Wrekin the Scrutiny Management Board had this responsibility) were responsible for scrutinising crime and disorder functions carried out by Safer Communities Partnerships (in Telford & Wrekin the Safer Stronger Communities Partnership). Given the common aims of scrutinising the effectiveness of crime and disorder reduction measures, there was a need for the PCP and Scrutiny Committees to co-ordinate work to add value and avoid duplication. The draft protocol set out a proposed way for the West Mercia PCP and the Scrutiny Committees to work together and the idea was to have one common protocol. The Board was asked to delegate further work to agree the a

protocol with other Local Authority Crime and Disorder Overview and Scrutiny Committees in West Mercia and the West Mercia Police and Crime Panel to the Statutory Scrutiny Officer in consultation with the Chair of Scrutiny Management Board and this was agreed. A further report would be brought to the Board in due course.

The Chair then referred members back to the issue of the police presence in Newport and moved that the Board support the views expressed by the Leader in his letter to the PCC and this was agreed.

Cllr. Picken said that the PCP should be non-political and Cllr. Elliott said he felt the first two meetings had been very political.

Cllr. McClements left the meeting after this item.

#### **RESOLVED**

- That the Board support the views expressed by the Leader in his letter to the Police & Crime Commissioner regarding the police presence in Newport;
- That further work to agree the a protocol with other Local Authority Crime and Disorder Overview and Scrutiny Committees in West Mercia and the West Mercia Police and Crime Panel be delegated to the Statutory Scrutiny Officer in consultation with the Chair of Scrutiny Management Board.

# SMB-35 <u>UPDATE FROM SCRUTINY COMMITTEE CHAIRS</u>

The Scrutiny Chairs provided an update on the work of the Scrutiny Committees since the last meeting.

- Cllr. Reynolds (Budget & Finance) reported that the Committee had worked intensively during January and February to scrutinise the budget proposals. The Committee had done a thorough job and had questioned most of the Cabinet members on their budget proposals. She had presented the Committee's response at Policy Review and to Cabinet on 28<sup>th</sup> February and the Cabinet member Resources & Service Delivery would be providing a written response. The Committee had taken a longer term view than in the past to look ahead at future years.
- Cllr. Turley (Housing, Economy & Infrastructure) had met the Cabinet member for Housing, Regeneration & Economic Development and Senior Officers on 14<sup>th</sup> March for a briefing on the Invest in Telford Cabinet report and the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and a position note from the meeting was provided for the Committee. The last meeting on 28<sup>th</sup> February had been an informal update on the waste procurement process and a discussion about the work programme. The members had decided to defer scrutiny of the CIL on the basis of information received although the Chair would continue to receive regular Cabinet briefings. At the next meeting the Committee would have another update on the waste procurement and would scope work on housing issues.

• Cllr. Ion (Children & Young People) said that the Committee had spent the last 7 months on an in-depth review of the Children in Care Placement Strategy. A lot of evidence had been gathered including from social workers, foster carers and an Independent Reviewing Officer, the Chair of the Local Safeguarding Children Board and visits were planned to children in residential homes. A set of draft recommendations was shared and discussed at the last meeting. The review had found much to celebrate and many strengths but Ofsted had rated some of the safeguarding and looked after children service outcomes as Adequate or Inadequate and this was a matter of concern for the Committee. The Ofsted report on fostering services published this week had downgraded the service from Good to Adequate and the Committee would be looking at this.

The review had focussed on three lines of enquiry:

- 1. Whether systems and processes keep children safe and how the systems are Quality Assured the Committee had found some mismatch between what should happen and what happens in practice
- 2. Value for Money the Cost Improvement Plan and monthly financial monitoring meetings were welcomed but there were 144 providers on the regional residential framework contract and the committee felt if this could be reduced it would improve bargaining power. The average weekly cost of residential care was almost £3,000. The use of internal and external foster carers also needed to be rebalanced.
- 3. Responsibility for children placed by other authorities in Telford & Wrekin there are 24 children's homes with children placed by other authorities so there is no accountability to Telford & Wrekin. DI Philip Shakesheff (West Mercia force lead for missing persons) had attended scrutiny and talked about some good work the police had done with children's home providers in Shropshire including a provider conference which had identified 40 children that the police had not previously known about.

The report and recommendations would be presented to Cabinet in May.

The next review would be of the provision of primary places to meet forecast demand, the need for expansion or new build and the difficulties with capital investment for building.

The Chair said he had not heard Kinship or Special Guardianship mentioned and he though there was an issue with people being pressured to enter agreements and support then dropping off.

• Cllr. White (Health & Adult Care) reported that Telford & Wrekin had hosted the Regional Health Scrutiny Chairs' meeting at the end of January. Attendance had been affected by the snow but there had been a good quality discussion. The Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee was continuing to look at the acute hospital trust especially A&E services which the Trust was struggling with – talks were continuing and plans would come forward mid-year. There were concerns about the way the Trust was working and the lack of focus on Telford and concerns about the Trust meeting the criteria for Foundation Trust status because of financial and quality issues. The Telford Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) has been

authorised without condition (pending one minor technicality) and he had met the chair of the CCG to develop the relationship and to discuss issues raised by scrutiny. The Health & Adult Care Scrutiny Committee had been focussing on Continuing Healthcare and had uncovered some eye opening stories. The next review of the Meals on Wheels service had been scoped and was getting underway.

There was no update from Cllr. McClements as she had left the meeting before this item.

# SMB-36 <u>SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD WORK PROGRAMME</u>

The time and date of the next meeting at 10.30am on Friday 17<sup>th</sup> May was noted. Cllr. Shaun Davies would be attending for the Holding the Executive to Account session and the other item would be Domestic Violence.

		,	•	
Chairm	an:		 	 
Date:			 	 

The meeting ended at 12.30pm.

# **TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL**

**SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD – 17th MAY 2013** 

SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME - PERFORMANCE MONITORING REPORT

# REPORT OF SCRUTINY TEAM

#### **PURPOSE**

The purpose of the report is to provide information to enable the Scrutiny Management Board to monitor progress and outcomes in delivering the scrutiny work programme. The Board may make recommendations arising from the information contained in this report.

#### **BACKGROUND**

The current Scrutiny Committee structure and appointments to the Scrutiny Committees was confirmed at Annual Council on 23<sup>rd</sup> May 2012. On 4<sup>th</sup> July 2012 the Scrutiny Management Board agreed to set a **two year work programme** (2012/13 – 2013/14), refreshed after 12 months, to allow for continuity of work over municipal years and consequently the process for agreeing the work programme as set out in the Scrutiny Handbook will not be carried out for 2013/14. The Board also agreed the allocation of suggested topics to the Scrutiny Committees for each Committee to decide its own work programme and set an indicative allocation of 6 meetings per Committee per year.

# **PROGRESS MAY 2012 - MAY 2013**

# 1. Delivery of the Work Programme

The table below shows the items selected for the 2012/13-2013/14 work programme and progress against each item. Additional items added in-year are indicated on the table.

Committee	Topic agreed	Status	RAG
Scrutiny Management Board	Changing the Council & Local Communities Together- the Co- operative Way	Complete	
	Holding the Executive to Account	On-going	
	Update on Police & Crime Commissioner and Police & Crime Panel	Complete (further work required)	
	Appointment of Town & Parish Council scrutiny co-optees	Complete	
	Scrutiny Chairs' Updates	Standing item	
	Scrutiny Recommendations Database		
	Domestic Violence	(May meeting)	

Committee	Topic agreed	Status	RAG
	<ul><li>Issues added in-year:</li><li>Managing cross-cutting issues</li><li>Changes to the Constitution and Scrutiny Handbook</li></ul>	Complete	
Budget & Finance	Service & Financial Planning Report – 2011/12 Outturn	Complete	
Scrutiny Committee	Local Government Finance: changes to funding mechanisms (Business Rates Retention Scheme, New Homes Bonus Scheme etc.)	Complete	
	Service & Financial Planning Strategy 2013/14 – 2014/15 (budget proposals)	Complete	
	Capital receipts	Complete (Audit Committee)	
	<ul> <li>Issues added in-year:</li> <li>Savings proposals agreed</li> <li>September 2012</li> </ul>	Complete	
	New Funding Formula for Schools	Complete	
	Welfare Benefit Reforms	Complete (with Cooperative & Communities)	
Children &	<ul> <li>Items agreed to date for 2013/14:</li> <li>Budget proposals</li> <li>Safeguarding and Early Intervention Cost Improvement Plan</li> <li>2012/13 Outturn report</li> <li>Approach to shared services and outsourcing</li> <li>Approach to financial planning and setting priorities for 2014/15 and beyond</li> <li>Opportunities for commercial income</li> <li>Single Status</li> </ul>	All items scheduled for 2013/14	
Young People Scrutiny Committee	Children in Care Placement Strategy	Complete (Report to Cabinet June 2013)	
Committee	Provision of Primary School Places	Underway (April-June)	
	Youth Services and Youth Offending Service	Scheduled Sept-Nov 2013	
	Early Intervention programmes	Scheduled Jan-March 2014	
	<ul><li>Issues added in-year:</li><li>Ofsted action plan (Safeguarding and Looked After Children)</li></ul>	Complete, with regular monitoring (August 2014)	

Committee	Topic agreed	Status	RAG
	Ofsted action plan (Fostering)	Complete	
	Standing items:		
	<ul><li>LSCB briefing</li><li>Children in Care Performance</li></ul>	Complete (next Jan 2014)	
	monitoring Dashboard	On-going	
	Education attainment	On-going	
Co-operative & Communities	Co-operative Council updates	Complete (with future monitoring)	
Scrutiny Committee	Welfare Benefit Reforms:	Complete	
	Council Tax Support Scheme and Transitional Grant	(Monitor September 2013 with Budget & Finance)	
	Welfare Benefit Reforms:	Complete	
	Discretionary Housing Payment and council Tax Support Hardship Policy	(Monitor September 2013 with Budget & Finance)	
	Welfare Benefit Reforms:	Complete	
	Local Crisis Assistance & Local Resettlement Assistance Policy	(Monitor September 2013 with Budget & Finance)	
	Welfare Benefit Reforms: How the Council and partners are supporting people through changes	Partially complete	
	First Point for Business update	Complete	
		(Will continue to monitor)	
	Impact of changes to leisure concessions policy	Complete	
	Review of Co-operative Values and Employee Commission	Partially complete	
Health & Adult Care Scrutiny	Continuing Healthcare	Complete	
Committee		(Recommendations will be made to CCG)	
	Meals on Wheels	Scoped	
	Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)	To be included in work on Mental Health services 2013/14	
	Public Health Transition	Further updates to be requested	
	Alcohol Strategy	2013/14 Work Programme	
	Vulnerable Adult Safeguarding Board Annual Report	2013/14 Work Programme	
	Standing item: Health and Social Care Policy Developments (including changes to	On-going	

Committee	Topic agreed	Status	RAG
	Health Scrutiny) Telford & Wrekin and Shropshire Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee (Sub-group of the Health & Adult Care Scrutiny Committee		
	Travel and Transport Plan	On going	
	Stroke Review	On going	
	West Midlands Ambulance Service and Make Ready	On going	
	Reconfiguration of Hospital Services	On going	
	111 Service	On going	
	Ophthalmology	Completed	
	SaTH Foundation Trust Application	On going	
	Relocation of Head and Neck Surgery	Completed	
	Children's Surgery	On going	
	Emergency Department Review	On going	
	End of Life Care		
Housing, Economy & Infrastructure	Waste Procurement and evaluation of Council owned and run Transfer Station	Partially complete	
Scrutiny Committee	Housing	Topic identified – work being scoped	
	Community Infrastructure Levy	Deferred until 2014/15	
	Business Improvement Districts and attracting jobs to Telford & Wrekin	Scheduled 2013/14	
	Other issues: Questions to Cabinet member for holding to account session	Complete	

Item completed or where the item has been to scrutiny and further monitoring or other work was identified.

Item under way and partially completed.

Item not looked at during the first year of the two year work programme.

# 2. Scrutiny meetings

The Scrutiny Management Board agreed a benchmark of 6 meetings per Committee per year. The table below illustrates the number of meetings held per Committee by type of meeting and the total number of meetings held.

Joint meetings have been accredited to the lead Scrutiny Committee to avoid duplication of counting, but the joint meetings are indicated on the table.

Committee	Benchmark	Formal meetings	Informal meetings	Total
Scrutiny Management Board	6	6		6
Budget & Finance	6	7	1	8
Children & Young People	6	6¹	4	10
Co-operative & Communities	6	<b>4</b> <sup>2</sup>	43	8
Health & Adult Care and Joint HOSC	6	84	11⁴	19
Housing, Economy & Infrastructure	6	1	5	6
Total	36	32	25	57

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Two meetings were joint with the Budget & Finance Scrutiny Committee

The Scrutiny Committees aim to hold as many meetings as possible in public session in the interests of transparency and public involvement. However, members may hold informal meetings where evidence being gathered is confidential or relates to individuals or where members decide an informal meeting is the best format for effective scrutiny

#### **Not reported** in the table are:

- Meetings carried out by individual or groups of members to gather evidence as part of a review (e.g. visits to children in residential care by members of the Children & Young People Scrutiny Committee)
- Other (non-scrutiny) meetings attended by scrutiny members relevant to a review (e.g. Employee and Co-operative Commissions, Welfare Benefit Training Sessions, Community Trust).
- Chair's briefings with officers from partner organisations or Council officers
- Scrutiny Chair "Keep in Touch" meetings with Cabinet Members and senior officers
- Scrutiny member attendance at regional or national scrutiny meetings.

# 3. Outcomes from Scrutiny Reviews

The tables in sections 1 and 2 are quantitative measures of activity. The table below shows the topics that have been scrutinised and attempts to assess the qualitative outcomes from each piece of work. It does not include reviews which are on-going.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Two meetings were joint with the Budget & Finance Scrutiny Committee

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> One meeting was joint with the Budget & Finance Scrutiny Committee

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Health & Adult Care Scrutiny Committee: 4 formal committee meetings and 7 informal meetings; Joint HOSC 4 formal committee meetings and 4 informal meetings.

Topic								<b>a</b>	
	t t	to	્ર					service	
	Recommendations to Cabinet	ns on	olic	0				ser	
	atio	atio sati	б	ld t		_	of		
	nd	anis	ed 1 ent	he	າce g	ted	ınt	int Sub	
	ıme	ıme orga	oute	ive it	nai rin	ou .	eme rs	eme or p	
	om	om er c	ıtrik elo	cut	fori nito	ort	olve		er
	Recomr Cabinet	Recommendations to other organisation	Contributed to policy development	Executive held to account	Performance monitoring	Report noted	Involvement of partners	Involvement of users or public	Other
Changing the Council &				Υ		Υ			_
Local Communities									
Together- the Co-									
operative Way Holding the Executive				Υ					
to Account sessions				'					
Update on the Police &					Υ				Letter sent to PCC
Crime Commissioner									supporting
and Police & Crime Panel									Leader's views on
ranei									proposed closure of police stations.
									Further work on
									protocol with
Appointment of Town 9							Υ		scrutiny identified.
Appointment of Town & Parish Council co-							ĭ		
optees									
Changes to the			Υ						Delegations agreed
Constitution and									
Scrutiny Handbook Service & Financial					Υ				
Planning Report –									
2011/12 Outturn									
Local Government						Υ			
Finance: changes to									
funding mechanisms (BRRS, NHBS etc.)									
Service & Financial	Y*			Υ					* Committee's
Planning Strategy									response
2013/14 – 2014/15									presented to Cabinet
(budget proposals) Capital receipts						Υ			Joint with Audit
σαριιαι τουσιριο						'			Committee
New Funding Formula						Υ			
for Schools	V				\/		\/	\/	Development of
Children in Care Placement Strategy	Υ				Υ		Υ	Υ	Development of relationship with
i idoomoni onategy									Chair of LCSB.
									New model of
									working.
									Joint working
									between Committees.
									Committees.

Topic								4	
- 1	0	0	>					service	
	Recommendations to Cabinet	Recommendations to other organisation	Contributed to policy development					erv	
	ioi	Recommendations other organisation	bd	Executive held to account					
	dat	lat isa	to It	<del>p</del> le	ø)	р	t of	t of olic	
	enc	enc ani	ed	Ļ	nco	ote	ent	ent	
	ıt B	ımı	out pr	ive It	na rrin	n :	me rs	en or I	
	om	om er c	trik elo	cut	ori	ort	lve ne	)   	0
	Recomn Cabinet	ec	Contributed to development	<b>Executiv</b> account	Performance monitoring	Report noted	Involvement of partners	Involvement of users or public	Other
	E 0	E 0	ОР	а		2	= 0	n 1	0
Ofsted action plan					Υ				
(Safeguarding and									
Looked After Children) Ofsted action plan					Υ				
(Fostering)					ī				
LSCB briefing						Υ			Development of
						•			relationship with
									Chair of LCSB.
Education attainment					Υ				
Children in Care	Y*				Υ				*Recommendation
Performance	•								to Cabinet as part
monitoring Dashboard									of report on CiC
									placements.
Co-operative Council					Υ				
updates									
Council Tax Support			Υ						Joint working
Scheme and									between
Transitional Grant									Committees
Discretionary Housing			Υ						Joint working
Payment and Council									between Committees.
Tax Support Hardship Policy									Member only
1 Olicy									meeting.
Local Crisis Assistance			Υ						Joint working
& Local Resettlement			-						between
Assistance Policy									Committees
Progress on First Point						Υ			
for Business									
Impact of changes to						Y			
leisure concessions									
policy Continuing Healthcare		Υ					Υ	Υ	Establishing
2011a.iig i loaitiloalo		.					'	'	relationship with
									CCG and HWB
Public Health transition					Υ				
Health and Social Care			Υ				Υ		
Policy Developments									
(including changes to									
Health Scrutiny) Joint HOSC (with		Υ	Υ				Υ		
Shropshire)		Ī	I				'		
Waste Management					Υ	Υ			Fed into service
Tradic Management	ı						ı		1 34 1110 3017100

Topic	Recommendations to Cabinet	Recommendations to other organisation	Contributed to policy development	Executive held to account	Performance monitoring	Report noted	Involvement of partners	Involvement of service users or public	Other
Services Procurement Process									specification for bidders. Checked evaluation of Council owned WTS as recommended by Scrutiny Management Board at Call-in.

# 4. Regional and National Scrutiny Work

Telford & Wrekin is a member of two regional scrutiny networks:

# a) West Midlands Overview & Scrutiny Network

The network meets quarterly and is going into its third year of operation. Its purpose is to provide a forum for members and officers to consider, discuss and exchange views and information on national and regional issues affecting local authorities in the West Midlands and to voice those views as appropriate. The network has no formal standing as a joint scrutiny committee and meets on an informal basis.

Past meetings have been attended by relevant Scrutiny Chairs or Committee members. The aim is to bring knowledge and ideas back into Telford & Wrekin (this worked successfully following a network meeting on housing) although it is the view of the Scrutiny team that reporting lines back to the Scrutiny Management Board could be strengthened. This will happen by default for the next year - the Scrutiny Management Board is aware that Cllr. Derek White has been appointed as Chair of the network for 2013/14 and that the July meeting is being hosted by Telford & Wrekin. One of his key aims is to strengthen the voice of the network at national level and he is exploring innovative ways of achieving this in addition to representing the network at the National Overview & Scrutiny Forum which meets in London.

# b) Regional Health Scrutiny Chairs and Officers Group

This is a mature network which has been operating for a number of years and meets quarterly. Its purpose is to act as a vehicle for regional and national health bodies and policy makers to inform scrutiny about proposals and consultations affecting health services in the West Midlands. It is also a forum for discussing and exchanging views between

member authorities. The network does not have formal standing as a joint committee and discussions about this in the past have faltered on the requirement for political balance or unanimous agreement by member authorities to waive political balance.

Cllr. Derek White attended all of the meetings in 2012/13. Telford & Wrekin hosted the January 2013 meeting and the Chair reported back to the Board on this in March.

# 5. New Ways of Working

Scrutiny outcomes can relate to direct outcomes from scrutiny work or to improvements in the way that scrutiny is carried out. This section highlights some examples of new ways of working which worked effectively during 2012/13.

Model	Examples
Sub-group model	The Children & Young People Scrutiny Sub-Group.
	A sub-group of 5 members (cross-group and a cooptee) was set up for the review of the care placement strategy. The group met between main meetings to critique and plan work. The Chair reported the subgroup's work back to the Committee.
	The model enhanced the process by bringing added rigour to scrutinising evidence, added depth by harnessing the diverse knowledge and skills of a cross-party/co-optee group, improved engagement of members throughout the process.
Working in parallel with Executive and officers (policy development)	The Co-operative & Communities and Budget & Finance Scrutiny Committees worked in parallel with the benefits team on the development of the new welfare benefit policies.
	Early concepts were presented to members allowing scrutiny to shape thinking by challenging assumptions, identifying gaps and eliminating shortfalls. For each piece of work, scrutiny's feedback was input into the final policies which went through to Cabinet and Council.
	Members developed an excellent relationship with officers so that scrutiny was proactively involved and member and officer resources were used to maximum effect.
Member only meetings	Members of the Co-operative & Communities Scrutiny Committee met unsupported by officers to scrutinise the Discretionary Housing Payment Policy. The work was entirely member-led and did not require additional resource from the over-stretched benefits team.
	Members of the Co-operative & Communities Scrutiny

	Committee have been interviewing staff from across the Council as part of a review. Members have set up their own meetings, carried out the interviews and taken notes without officer support.
Eliminating duplication of work	There has been joint working between Scrutiny Committees (Co-operative & Communities, Budget & Finance and Children & Young People), and between Scrutiny Committees and other Council forums (Audit Committee, Employee and Co-operative Commission, Welfare Benefits Training Sessions).
	The Scrutiny Management Board responded to a Cabinet member's concern about duplication and agreed arrangements to minimise the risk of Members and officers reporting the same information to more than one committee.
Speed of response	Scrutiny of the welfare benefit policies showed how scrutiny can respond quickly to changing circumstances. The Committees often had to meet at short notice to enable scrutiny to feed in at the right time.
Effective use of meeting time	The Children & Young People Scrutiny Committee has made good use of e-mail to streamline processes. An example is that draft Terms of Reference and lines of enquiry for reviews are circulated be e-mail for comment so formal endorsement can happen quickly at meetings. This has meant more committee time is spent on actual scrutiny and less on discussing "process" issues which can be done electronically.
Overall assessment of Scrutiny Team	The Scrutiny Team reflects on each piece of work to assess what worked well and what could be improved so that good practice is shared across scrutiny committees and lessons are applied to future work.
	As resources have become scarcer, scrutiny processes have become more streamlined to make best use of member and officer time. The Committees work flexibly and use the method of scrutiny proportionate to the issue and level of concerns. There has been a move away from the more formulaic scrutiny arrangements (In-depth, Spotlight and Special Interest) which has reduced unnecessary bureaucracy and changes to the Scrutiny Handbook have been drafted to reflect the changes.

# 6. Call-in and Key Decisions

# Call-in

Two Call-in requests were made during the 2012/13 municipal year:

- a) Cabinet decision of 31<sup>st</sup> May 2012 relating to the Waste Management Services Procurement. This was reported in the 2011/12 Scrutiny Annual Report.
- b) Cabinet decision of 26<sup>th</sup> July 2012 relating to the appropriation of land on Station Road, Newport. The Chair of the Scrutiny Management Board did not agree this was a valid Call-in and the request was rejected with the reasons given for the decision.

# **Key Decisions**

As reported previously to the Board, changes in the Localism Act, require that:

- Where a Key Decision is not published with 28 clear working days notice, the relevant Scrutiny Chair must be notified of the decision to be taken, or
- Where a Key Decision is not published with 5 clear working days notice, consent must be sought from the relevant Scrutiny Chair for the decision to be taken, or
- Where a Key Decision has been published with 28 clear working days notice but contains information exempt under legislation and has not been published as a private report, consent must be sought from the relevant Scrutiny Chair for the report to be exempted.

Three such requests were made to Scrutiny Chairs during 2012/13:

- a) Request for exemption of Cabinet report 28<sup>th</sup> February, Retention and Refurbishment of the Business Development Centre. Telford.
- b) Request for exemption of Cabinet report 28<sup>th</sup> March, Hadley Redevelopment Phase 2 Waiver of normal procurement procedures.
- c) Request for the report on the Regeneration of Brookside to be added to the 25<sup>th</sup> April Cabinet agenda.

Cllr. Turley as Chair of the relevant Scrutiny Committee (Housing, Economy & Infrastructure) consented to each request. Advice was sought from the Scrutiny Team and relevant officers from service areas or legal. In each case, the urgency of the request was taken into consideration.

#### Report prepared by:

Stephanie Jones, Scrutiny Group Specialist: 01952 383114 Fiona Bottrill, Scrutiny Group Specialist: 01952 383113